STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Charleston County

Honorable Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

Opinion No. 2019-UP-295 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed August 21, 2019)

NOV 25 2019

1994-GS-10-3056, 1994-GS-10-3057

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTHONY M. ENRIQUEZ,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-001895

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

LARA M. CAUDY
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED

Did the Court of Appeals err by holding the circuit court properly found Petitioner did not qualify for resentencing pursuant to Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), because he was eligible for parole after the service of twenty years, where the mandatory nature of Petitioner's life with parole sentence treated all adults and juveniles the same, and where the parole process in South Carolina does not provide a meaningful opportunity for release such that it is not an adequate substitute for individualized resentencing?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Charleston County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner in June 1994 for murder and armed robbery, related to an incident that occurred on January 21, 1994 when Petitioner was seventeen years old. On December 1, 1994, Petitioner pled guilty as indicted before the Honorable L. Casey Manning.¹ R. 1. Assistant Solicitor R. Spencer Roddey represented the state, and William L. Runyon, Jr. represented Petitioner. R. 1. Petitioner was sentenced to the mandatory term of life imprisonment for murder and to a concurrent term of twenty-five years for armed robbery. R. 31, ll. 10-23. Pursuant to the statutory scheme in place at the time of the offense, Petitioner would become eligible for parole after the service of twenty years of his sentence. R. 70, ll. 1-16; S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20 (1992).

¹ Petitioner pled guilty to armed robbery pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford, 400 U.S. 25 (1970). R. 7, l. 3 – 19, l. 4.

Following this Court's decision in Aiken v. Byars, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), Petitioner filed a *pro se* motion for resentencing on December 23, 2014. R. 33. In this motion, Petitioner argued that at the time of the crime he was only seventeen years old, had an underdeveloped sense of responsibility, and was vulnerable to negative influences and outside pressures from family and peers. Petitioner's age was only a chronological factor at his plea hearing and not considered for its constitutional significance, as explained in Aiken and Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012). R. 33.

On March 30, 2016, Petitioner filed a Memorandum in Support of his Motion for Resentencing through counsel, Bentley Price. R. 38. The memorandum elaborated on both the law and facts relevant to the instant case. R. 38. Counsel noted that while Petitioner's sentence provided for parole eligibility after service of twenty years of his sentence, its imposition was mandatory under the law in place at the time. R. 38-39. Thus, Petitioner never had the opportunity "to present evidence specific to the attributes of his youth" to the sentencing judge and the judge was prevented from considering such evidence in determining a proper and proportionate sentence. R. 39-41.

Counsel reviewed Petitioner's many achievements while incarcerated and discussed the circumstances of the offense, Petitioner's home life and peer pressures, and Petitioner's difficulty in assisting in his own defense. R. 42-43. Counsel further noted that "[t]he life expectancy for an incarcerated youth who serves decades in prison is substantially less than a person in society in light of the stress factors associated with prison life." R. 44. He argued that even geriatric release is uncommon for "lifers" in South Carolina, but that such release would not provide Petitioner with the opportunity for any meaningful life outside of prison. Thus, he argued that Petitioner's sentence "is the 'functional equivalent' to life without parole," such that he is entitled to a resentencing hearing. R. 44.

On April 21, 2016, the state, represented by Assistant Solicitor Charles M. Condon, Jr., filed its response to the motion for resentencing, arguing Petitioner was not eligible for resentencing because he was eligible for parole. R. 61. The state asserted that Miller and Aiken were not applicable to Petitioner because Petitioner is eligible for parole, noting an initial parole eligibility date of January 23, 2014. R. 62. The state cited to the South Carolina Department of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services' Policies and Procedures Handbook in support of its assertion that "the parole board can take into considerations of youthfulness and immaturity at the time of the crime, rehabilitation, along with other important considerations." R. 63. Thus, the prosecutor suggested that Petitioner's motion be summarily denied. R. 63.

The defense filed a reply to the state's response on June 30, 2016, asserting that Petitioner had a right to have a judge consider the mitigating factors prior to imposing a life sentence, regardless of his parole eligibility. R. 64. In the state's supplemental response filed on July 19, 2016, the solicitor argued the United States Supreme Court's decision in Montgomery v. Louisiana, 136 S.Ct. 718 (2016), "made clear that Miller, and consequently Aiken v. Byars, does not apply to juveniles who receive life with eligibility for parole sentences." R. 66-67. Rather, he asserted that a remedy for a Miller violation is to convert the life without parole sentence to one of life with eligibility for parole.

On July 20, 2016, a hearing was held before the Honorable Carmen T. Mullen.² At the hearing, the solicitor argued that the resentencing provided for in Aiken was applicable only to juveniles sentenced to literal "life without parole" and not to anyone sentenced to life with parole. R. 69, ll. 11-15. He averred that because Petitioner was parole eligible, "the parole board could consider the novelties of youth and the other considerations of youth." R. 69, ll. 16-19. The

² By order filed April 6, 2016, this Court vested Judge Mullen with exclusive jurisdiction over Petitioner's Motion for Resentencing. R. 37.

solicitor further cited to Montgomery as having held that “a possible remedy for a Miller violation is the same sentence that the defendant received in this case, which is converting a life without parole sentence to a life with parole.” R. 69, ll. 20-25. He argued that Aiken’s language indicated applicability to a narrow class, such that there was no authority to grant a resentencing hearing in Petitioner’s case. R. 75, l. 10 – 76, l. 4.

Defense counsel responded that the fact that the mandatory sentencing scheme allowed for parole eligibility did not preclude resentencing. He discussed the Miller factors and how they would have counseled against a life sentence in Petitioner’s case had the sentencing judge been allowed to consider them. R. 70, l. 19 – 73, l. 7. Counsel averred that there were other similarly situated inmates serving life with parole sentences, though it was difficult to identify the specific number because they are “dying off” in prison. He noted that life expectancy is reduced in prison. R. 73, ll. 8-17. Regarding the scope of Montgomery, counsel noted that the language used in the opinion is that “[a] State *may* remedy a Miller violation by permitting juvenile homicide offenders to be considered for parole, rather than by resentencing them.” 136 S.Ct. at 736 (emphasis added). Thus, he argued that parole eligibility does *not always* provide an adequate remedy. R. 73, ll. 18-24. Counsel asserted that parole is much easier to attain in other states than in South Carolina. He argued that, in our state, it is the judiciary that needs to weigh the Miller factors and determine the proper sentence. R. 73, l. 25 – 74, l. 25. Leaving the matter to the parole board was not adequate because no one serving a similar sentence for a similar offense had been granted parole, and that the parole board was going to continue to “not parole,” just as they have done in the past. Thus, defense counsel argued that Petitioner’s sentence is the functional equivalent of life without parole, imposed in violation of the Constitution. R. 76, ll. 5-18. Notably, the solicitor did not dispute defense counsel’s assertion regarding the unlikelihood of parole for Petitioner. R. 76, ll. 19-23.

On October 20, 2016, Judge Mullen filed an Order denying Petitioner’s motion for resentencing. R. 79. She emphasized that there was “currently no South Carolina case law addressing whether a juvenile defendant sentenced to life imprisonment with the possibility of parole is entitled to the same individualized sentencing hearing as those juvenile defendants sentenced to life without the possibility of parole.” R. 81. However, she found Montgomery’s holding – that states may remedy a Miller violation by permitting juvenile homicide offenders to be considered for parole – “instructive.” R. 81. She quoted Montgomery, “Allowing those offenders to be considered for parole ensures that juveniles whose crimes reflected only transient immaturity—and who have since matured—will not be forced to serve a disproportionate sentence in violation of the Eighth Amendment.” R. 81 (quoting Montgomery, 136 S.Ct. at 736).

Thus, Judge Mullen reasoned that “[b]ecause Montgomery allows States to remedy unconstitutional life sentences imposed on juveniles by giving such offenders parole eligibility, it logically follows that a life sentence with the possibility for parole—such as the one Enriquez [Petitioner] is serving—imposed upon a juvenile defendant is not unconstitutional.” R. 81. She accordingly ruled: “Enriquez is not entitled to a resentencing hearing under Aiken v. Byars as Aiken v. Byars does not extend to juveniles serving life sentences who are eligible for parole.” R. 81.

By opinion filed August 21, 2019, the Court of Appeals affirmed the circuit court’s decision denying Petitioner’s motion for resentencing. State v. Enriquez, 2019-UP-295 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 21, 2019); App. 1-4. On August 26, 2019, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing with the Court of Appeals. App. 5-10. The state filed a return to this petition on September 13, 2019. App. 10-18. By order filed October 15, 2019, the Court of Appeals denied the petition for rehearing. App. 19. This petition for writ of certiorari to the Court of Appeals follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred by holding the circuit court properly found Petitioner did not qualify for resentencing pursuant to *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 765 S.E.2d 572 (2014), because he was eligible for parole after the service of twenty years, where the mandatory nature of Petitioner's life with parole sentence treated all adults and juveniles the same, and where the parole process in South Carolina does not provide a meaningful opportunity for release such that it is not an adequate substitute for individualized resentencing.

Petitioner was born on April 14, 1976, and seventeen years old at the time of the instant offense. When he pled guilty in 1994, the only possible sentences for murder were death, life with parole eligibility after thirty years (if the death penalty was sought and an aggravating circumstance was found beyond a reasonable doubt, but a recommendation of death was not made), or life with parole eligibility after twenty years. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20 (1992). It is evident from the plea transcript that Petitioner entered his pleas to avoid the death penalty, which was not banned as a punishment for juvenile offenders for another decade. R. 14, l. 17 – 15, l. 13; *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551 (2005). In light of his plea, Petitioner's life sentence with parole eligibility after twenty years for murder was mandatory, such that the sentencing judge had no discretion and was required to impose the same sentence on Petitioner as he would for even the most heinous adult offender who pled guilty to murder.

As will be discussed more fully *infra*, the failure to differentiate between juvenile and adult offenders at the original sentencing hearing renders the mandatorily imposed sentence upon Petitioner unconstitutional. Petitioner's parole eligibility after service of twenty years does not cure the unconstitutionality of his sentence because it does not provide him with a meaningful opportunity for release since the factors considered by the South Carolina Board of Pardons and Pardons do not include the mitigating hallmark features of youth. Further, while parole may be

more than a mere hope for offenders who committed less serious offenses, defense counsel argued that parole eligibility is a virtual nullity for an offender like Petitioner, who committed murder as a juvenile. The solicitor offered no contrary evidence to establish that a grant of parole was a realistic possibility for Petitioner. R. 73, l. 8 – 74, l. 9; R. 76, ll. 5-23.

The only way to provide Petitioner with a constitutional sentence is to allow him resentencing where the court can fully explore the factors required under Miller and Aiken and where a different sentence is possible.

A. The Eighth Amendment’s ban against cruel and unusual punishment provides additional protections for juvenile offenders.

The Eighth Amendment to the United States Constitution, applicable to the states under the Fourteenth Amendment, provides: “Excessive bail shall not be required, nor excessive fines imposed, nor cruel and unusual punishments inflicted.” U.S. Const. amend VIII; U.S. Const. amend XIV; see also S.C. Const. art. I, § 15. The United States Supreme Court has found that because the words of the Eighth Amendment are not precise and their scope is not static, it “must draw its meaning from the evolving standards of decency that mark the progress of a maturing society.” Trop v. Dulles, 356 U.S. 86, 101 (1958).

Because the scheme under which Petitioner was sentenced was mandatory in nature, the original sentencing judge gave no consideration to any mitigating evidence. Rather, Petitioner was sentenced just as any other juvenile or adult offender, with no individualization. R. 24, ll. 8-17; R. 26, l. 11 – 31, l. 19. The constitutional requirement for individualized consideration of mitigating and extenuating circumstances at sentencing began with American death penalty jurisprudence. In Furman v. Georgia, 408 U.S. 238 (1972), the United States Supreme Court invalidated all then-existing death penalty statutes, finding that they allowed for the arbitrary and capricious imposition of capital punishment. The Supreme Court struck down subsequent attempts by states to cure the defect through mandatory death penalty statutes, holding that “the fundamental respect for humanity

underlying the Eighth Amendment, requires consideration of the character and record of the individual offender and the circumstances of the particular offense as a constitutionally indispensable part of the process of inflicting the penalty of death.” Woodson v. North Carolina, 428 U.S. 280, 304 (1976); see also Roberts v. Louisiana, 428 U.S. 325 (1976); State v. Rumsey, 267 S.C. 236, 226 S.E.2d 894 (1976). However, the Court upheld Georgia’s bifurcated scheme that separated the guilt and penalty phases of a capital trial because the jury’s discretion was “controlled by clear and objective standards so as to produce non-discriminatory application.” Gregg v. Georgia, 428 U.S. 153, 197-98 (1976). Of particular importance was the jury’s consideration of mitigating evidence and extenuating circumstances. Id. Further, one of ten specific statutory aggravating circumstances had to be proved beyond a reasonable doubt and designated in writing before a death sentence could be imposed. Id. Before the state supreme court could affirm the death sentence, it had to consider whether the death sentence was the result of passion, prejudice, or other arbitrary factors, and conduct a proportionality review to determine whether it is disproportionate to the punishment usually imposed in similar cases. Id. at 204-206.

In the ensuing years, the Supreme Court imposed several categorical bans on sentencing practices based on mismatches between the culpability of a class of offenders and the severity of a penalty, reflecting its continued concern with proportionate punishment under the Eighth Amendment. In Thompson v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 815 (1988), a plurality of the Court prohibited the imposition of the death penalty upon a juvenile offender who was under the age of sixteen at the time of the offense. Later, the Court banned the imposition of the death penalty upon mentally retarded defendants in Atkins v. Virginia, 536 U.S. 304 (2002), and upon offenders who commit non-homicide crimes in Kennedy v. Louisiana, 554 U.S. 407 (2008).

In Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551 (2005), the United States Supreme Court categorically banned the imposition of the death penalty on juvenile offenders, who were under the age of

eighteen at the time of the crime. The Court explained that “[c]apital punishment must be limited to those offenders who commit “a narrow category of the most serious crimes” and whose extreme culpability makes them “the most deserving of execution.”” 543 U.S. at 568 (quoting Atkins, 536 U.S. at 319). The Court distinguished youthful offenders from those most deserving of execution based on their lack of maturity and underdeveloped sense of responsibility, their greater susceptibility to negative influences and outside pressures, and the transitory nature of their personality traits. Id. at 569-570. As such, a juvenile’s conduct is not as morally reprehensible as that of an adult. Id. at 570. Because of their diminished culpability, the Court observed that the penological justifications for the death penalty apply to youthful offenders “with lesser force than to adults.” Id.

Six years later, in Graham v. Florida, 560 U.S. 48 (2010), the Supreme Court categorically banned the imposition of life without parole upon juvenile offenders who commit non-homicide offenses. In addition to finding that a national consensus supported such a ban, the Court discussed whether such a categorical ban was necessary in the Court’s “independent judgment.” 560 U.S. at 62-68. Similar to its reasoning in Roper, the Court’s conclusion was based upon the limited culpability of juvenile non-homicide offenders, the severity of life without parole sentences, and the lack of any penological theory adequate to justify such a sentence. Id. at 68-75. Regarding severity, the Court noted that life without parole is the second most severe punishment permitted by law, and, like the death penalty, deprives the offender of his liberty “without giving hope of restoration.” Id. at 69-70. For a juvenile, the Court found that a sentence of life without parole is “an especially harsh punishment” because “a juvenile offender will on average serve more years and a greater percentage of his life in prison than an adult offender.” Id. at 70. While Graham does not require a guarantee of release for a youthful offender convicted of a non-homicide crime, such

defendants must be given “some meaningful opportunity to obtain release based on demonstrated maturity and rehabilitation.” Id. at 71.

In 2012, the Court decided another seminal case in juvenile justice. In Miller v. Alabama, 567 U.S. 460 (2012), the Supreme Court held that the mandatory imposition of a life sentence without parole for youthful offenders was unconstitutional. The Court wrote: “Roper and Graham establish that children are constitutionally different from adults for purposes of sentencing.” Id. at 471. The Court found that while Graham’s flat ban on life without parole was for non-homicide crimes, nothing that Graham said about children is crime-specific. Id. at 473. Thus, the Miller Court recognized that Graham’s reasoning implicates any life without parole sentence for a juvenile, even as its categorical bar relates only to non-homicide offenses. Id. The Court held that the mandatory penalty schemes at issue prevented the sentencer from considering youth and from assessing whether the law’s harshest term of imprisonment proportionately punishes a juvenile offender. Id. at 474. Such schemes contravene the foundational principle of Roper and Graham—“that imposition of a State’s most severe penalties on juvenile offenders cannot proceed as though they were not children.” Id.

Thus, the Court held that a sentencer must have the opportunity to consider youth as a mitigating factor just as capital defendants must be afforded the opportunity to present mitigating factors for a sentencer’s consideration. Id. at 479. The Court wrote further: “[G]iven all we have said in Roper, Graham, and this decision about children’s diminished culpability and heightened capacity for change, we think appropriate occasions for sentencing juveniles to this harshest possible penalty will be uncommon.” Id. “That is especially so because of the great difficulty we noted in Roper and Graham of distinguishing at this early age between ‘the juvenile offender whose crime reflects unfortunate yet transient immaturity, and the rare juvenile offender whose crime reflects irreparable corruption.’” Id. Thus, the Court ruled: “Although we do not foreclose a

sentencer’s ability to make that judgment in homicide cases, we require it to take into account how children are different, and how those differences counsel against irrevocably sentencing them to a lifetime in prison.” Id. at 480.

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