STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

RECEIVED

JAN 27 2020

On Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals

S.C. SUPREME COURT

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY

Carmen T. Mullen, Circuit Court Judge

Unpublished Opinion No. 2019-UP-295

THE STATE,.....RESPONDENT

v.

ANTHONY M. ENRIQUEZ,.....PETITIONER

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Appellate Case No. 2019-001895

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

TOMMY EVANS, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 65282
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

SCARLETT A. WILSON
Solicitor, Ninth Judicial Circuit

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

Montgomery, 136 S.Ct at 737

The Petitioner argues that parole is harder to obtain in South Carolina than in other states. No proof is provided in the record revealing that it is more difficult to obtain parole in South Carolina than any other state in the nation. This argument should not be considered by this Court. The Petitioner also argues that no person in a similar situation has ever been granted parole. This accusation has also not been proven, and if this is the case that is not relevant due to the fact the Petitioner is receiving biannual parole hearings, he is eligible to be released on parole every two years. Both *Miller* and *Aiken* only relates to individuals who were sentenced as a juvenile to a term of imprisonment for the remainder of their life without the possibility of parole.

The Petitioner seeks a resentencing hearing due to the fact he is of the belief that the parole board does not give him a meaningful opportunity for release. In the seventy-six year history of the Department of Probation, Parole, and Pardon Services there have been numerous individuals serving a sentence for murder who have been granted parole. Unlike other cases cited within his brief the Petitioner became eligible for parole in a twenty year period, by the time he was thirty-seven years old. Other Appellant's had much longer periods to became eligible for parole which

courts have ruled violated *Miller*, *State v. Null*, 836 N.W.2d 41 (2013)(Supreme Court of Iowa determined that the service of fifty-two years prior to parole eligibility violates *Miller* since the Appellant would be sixty-nine years old before he can appear before a parole board); *Bear Cloud v. State*, 334 P.3d 132 (2014)(the Appellant would have to serve forty-five years prior to becoming eligible for parole, which would have made him sixty-one years old when he made his first appearance); *State v. Ramos*, 387 P.3d 650 (2017)(the Appellant received an eighty-five year sentence without the possibility of early release, he would be ninety-nine by time he's released from incarceration); *State v. Zuber*, 152 A.3d 197(2017)(two Appellant's one serving a sentence of one hundred and ten years and would not be eligible for parole until the service of fifty-five years; another serving a seventy-five year sentence who would not be eligible until the service of sixty-eight years); *Hayden v. Keller*, 134 F.Supp.3d 1000 (2015)(Appellant received a sentence of one hundred and sixty years at the age of fifteen). The situation the Petitioner is currently in does not equate to these matters. The Petitioner is currently eligible for parole and could possibly be released in the near future.

There exist another criteria that must be considered that takes into consideration the youth of the Petitioner at the time he committed the crime, and his increased maturity while incarcerated; this is the mandatory risk assessment. The South Carolina Code of Laws makes it mandatory that the Department develop a process for adopting a validated actuarial risk and needs assessment tool consistent with evidence-based practices and factors that contribute to criminal behavior, which the parole board shall use in making parole decisions, including additional objective criteria that may be used in parole decision. S.C. Code Ann. §24-21-10(F)(1)(2018).

The Petitioner argues that a parole hearing is not an adequate substitute for an individualized hearing. The parole board is mandated to consider fifteen criteria and a risk

assessment prior to making any decision. Each of these criteria must be applied to every parole hearing of the Petitioner and all other inmates appearing before parole board. Some of these criteria relates to circumstances surrounding the crime when it occurred including the Petitioner's mental state while committing the crime. Other criteria relate to the level to maturity the inmate has achieve during his period of incarceration. As long as the Petitioner is allowed to appear before the parole board his case does not fall under either the *Miller* nor *Aiken* decisions.

2. Neither the *Miller* nor *Aiken* decisions applies, so the Circuit Court did not have the authority to resentence the Petitioner.

This Court determined that the principles enunciated in *Miller* retroactively applied to prisoners that were similarly situated and prospectively to all juvenile offenders who may be subject to a sentence of life imprisonment *without* this possibility of parole. *Aiken*, 410 S.C. at 578, 765 S.E.2d at 545 (emphasis added). The lower Courts were correct in determining that *Aiken* does not apply to this case since the Petitioner is currently eligible for parole. The Petitioner is not entitled to resentencing due to the fact he is currently serving the sentence that existed at the time he committed the offense.

As stated above, at the time the Petitioner committed this crime the crime of murder only carried a sentence of life with a twenty year parole eligibility. In the absence of a controlling statute, the common law requires that a convicted criminal receive the punishment in effect at the time he is sentenced. *State v. Varner*, 310 S.C. 264, 265, 423 S.E.2d 133, 134 (1992). This is the punishment existing at the time the Petitioner was sentenced. As part of the omnibus crime act of 1996, the punishment for murder changed to thirty years to life.³ This was not the punishment at

³ A person who is convicted of or pleads guilty of murder must be punished by death, by imprisonment for life, or by a mandatory minimum term of imprisonment of thirty years. S.C. Code Ann. §16-3-20 (Supp. 1996).

the time of sentencing so it does not apply. A criminal defendant receives the benefit of punishment mitigated by legislative amendment only when the amendment becomes effective before sentence is pronounced. *Id.*

The Appellant is currently eligible for parole. It was clear pursuant to the *Miller* and *Aiken* decisions that it is only a violation of the eighth amendment in sentencing a juvenile to life *without* the possibility of parole. That is not the current sentence of the Petitioner, so neither of these decisions apply. The trial court was not allowed to resentence the Petitioner to the current punishment existing under South Carolina law.

Within their opinion the Court of Appeals stated, “our supreme court recently noted in *State v. Slocumb*, this court’s ability to provide relief in cases such as this is limited by the parameters set forth by the United States Supreme Court. *Enriquez*, OP. No. 2019-UP-295 (2019), quoting, *Slocumb*, 426 S.C. at 306, 314-315, 827 S.E.2d at 152-53, 157. In *Slocumb*, this Court declined to extend the United States Supreme Court decision of *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 130 S.Ct. 2011 (2010)⁴ This Court specifically determined:

Respect for separation of powers compels us to recognize that the General Assembly is the author of our state’s public policy for the sentencing of criminal offenders, juveniles, and adults. Pending further pronouncement from the Supreme Court, we take no position in the matter, nor should our holding be construed to limit or define the parameters of the legislative discussions and response to this challenge. The judicial role is limited to answering the narrow question raised: whether the aggregate term-of-years sentence imposed on Slocumb categorically violates the Eighth Amendment pursuant to the reach of *Graham*. Because we find it does not, our judicial prerogative is at its end, and the process must continue in the legislature.

⁴ The Constitution prohibits the imposition of life without parole sentence on a juvenile offender who did not commit a homicide. A state need not guarantee the offender eventual release, but if it imposes a sentence of life it must provide him or her with some realistic opportunity to obtain release before the end of that term. *Graham*, U.S. at 82, S.Ct. at 2034.

Slocumb, S.C. at 314, S.E.2d at 157.

Conrad Lamont Slocumb is currently serving a one hundred and thirty years sentence for escape, kidnapping, strong armed robbery, criminal sexual conduct in the first degree, and burglary in the first degree. He committed all of these offenses as a juvenile. The offenses for kidnapping, criminal sexual conduct and burglary in the first degree are classified as A-Felonies; therefore, pursuant to South Carolina law he is currently not eligible for parole.⁵ Mr. Slocumb is currently serving one hundred and ten years with no parole eligibility, which he is required to serve a minimum of eighty-five percent.⁶ This Court has ruled not to extend *Graham* due to it not ever addressing a de facto life sentence.⁷ The Petitioner is eligible for parole, he has an opportunity for release so if this court is reluctant to extend *Graham* on behalf of Mr. Slocumb, this court should not extend *Miller* nor *Aiken* on behalf of the Petitioner.

The Petitioner is currently receiving biannual hearings, this allows him an opportunity to be released on parole, neither the *Miller* nor *Aiken* decision applies. The Respondent would respectfully request this court to deny this petition for writ for certiorari.

⁵ For purposes of definition under South Carolina law a “no parole offense” means a class A, B, or C felony or an offense exempt from classification as enumerated in Section 1-16-10(d), which is punishable by a maximum of imprisonment for twenty years or more. S.C. Code Ann. §24-13-100(2018)

⁶ Notwithstanding any other provision of law, except in a case which the death penalty or a term of life imprisonment is imposed, an inmate convicted of a “no parole offense” as defined in Section 24-13-100 and sentenced to the custody of the Department of Corrections, including an inmate serving time in a local facility pursuant to a designed facility agreement authorized by Section 24-3-20 or Section 24-3-30 is not eligible for early release, discharge or community supervision as provided in Section 24-21-560, until the inmate has served at least eighty-five percent of the actual term of imprisonment imposed. S.C. Code Ann. §24-13-150 (2018).

⁷ We agree *Graham*'s explicit holding applies to *de jure* life sentences alone, and its rationale *may* implicate *de facto* life sentences... Nonetheless several factors caution us against extending the reach of *Graham* to provide Slocumb with relief without further input from the Supreme Court. *Slocumb*, 426 S.C. at 306, 827 S.E.2d at 153.(emphasis in original)

3. The issue raised by the Petitioner is an administrative matter; therefore, the Circuit Court lacked jurisdiction.

The Petitioner raises arguments regarding his parole hearing and the procedures set forth in the determination of parole. The Petitioner believes that since the Parole Board did not address his youth and impulsiveness at the time he committed the crime as designated in *Miller* and *Aiken*, his parole hearings violate the 8th amendment and he is entitled a resentencing. The Petitioner raises objections to the procedure used by the parole board in reviewing his case. He argues that the South Carolina parole process does not give him a meaningful opportunity to be released. Any arguments regarding the procedures applied or the lack of considerations made by the parole board upon the denial of parole must be considered administrative and are not under the jurisdiction of the Circuit Court. Pursuant to previous decisions made by this Court any allegations regarding the parole board not considering the mandatory criteria or the procedure used must be initially addressed by the Administrative Law Court (ALC), then by the Court of Appeals and possibly this Court pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act. It has been determined that the Circuit Court no longer has jurisdiction to determine the violation of administrative procedures regarding a prison sentence, the denial of parole eligibility or parole.

The fact that this case has already been appealed and this matter has not been previously raised has no bearing on the lack of subject matter jurisdiction. It is well settled that issues related to subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time, including for the first time before the Supreme Court. *Brown v. State*, 343 S.C. 342, 346, 540 S.E.2d 846, 848 (2001).

Though not addressed by the Court of Appeals, there are three decisions made by this Court that addresses the ALC being sole tribunal that can initially review any decision made by the board relating to the denial of parole or the denial of parole eligibility, *Al-Shabbaz v. State*, 338 S.C. 354, 527 S.E.2d 742 (2000); *Furtick v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 352 S.C.

594, 576 S.E.2d 146 (2003); and *Cooper v. S.C. Dept. of Probation, Parole and Pardon Services*, 377 S.C. 489, 661 S.E.2d 106 (2008). In *Al-Shabbaz*, this Court made the decision that an inmate held by the Department of Corrections may only seek a review for a decision in an administrative matter before the ALC and not through post-conviction relief. This Court made the determination that administrative matters can only arise in two ways: 1) when an inmate is disciplined and punishment is imposed; or 2) when an inmate believes prison officials have erroneously calculated his sentence; sentence-related credits or custody status. 338 *Al-Shabbaz*, S.C. at 369, 529 S.E.2d at 750.

In *Furtick*, this court decided that the latter applies to the denial of parole eligibility. This Court decided that *Al-Shabbaz* outlined the nature of review available to inmates raising non-collateral issues that implicate liberty interests; those procedures apply equally to inmates affected by final decisions of the Department of Probation, Parole and Pardons that affect a liberty interest. *Furtick*, 352 S.C. at 599, 576 S.E.2d at 146. This Court decided that the permanent denial of parole eligibility implicates a liberty interest sufficient to require at least minimal due process. *Id.*, S.C. at 598, S.E.2d at 149.

In *Cooper*, this Court decided that if the parole board deviates from or renders its decision without consideration of the appropriate criteria, it essentially abrogates an inmate's right to parole eligibility and thus, infringes on a state-created liberty interest. *Cooper*, 377 S.C. at 499, 661 S.E. at 112. In *Cooper*, if it is revealed that the parole board failed to apply the mandatory criteria established under South Carolina law and the parole board the decision may be remanded.

The Petitioner argues that the current South Carolina parole system is inadequate for a fair determination of whether or not he should be released on parole, and that it is not an adequate substitute for an individualized resentencing. The Petitioner argues that current criteria does not

consider the immaturity, impetuosity and a failure to appreciate the risk and consequence as would a youth have at the time he committed this crime. The Petitioner argues against the policy and procedures of the parole board and how parole hearings are conducted and what is considered. Those are not matters relating to his sentence but non-collateral administrative matters that should be addressed by the ALC, not the Circuit Court. The Circuit Court should have not been allowed to preside over a determination of whether or not the parole board properly considered the hallmarks of youth as proscribed in both the *Miller* and *Aiken* decisions.

The circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction relating to parole board decisions, so this matter should have been presented before the ALC upon the denial of the Petitioner's parole. Due to the Circuit Court's lack of ability to preside over decisions regarding the parole board, this case was heard before an improper tribunal and should have been dismissed on those grounds. This court should deny certiorari due to the Circuit Court's lack of jurisdiction to preside over this cause of action. The issue is not a sentencing issue but a parole decision; therefore, this is an administrative matter that should have been initially presented before the ALC and not the Circuit Court.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, Respondent submits Petitioner has failed to show that the question presented warrants certiorari review. The Court should deny the petition for writ of certiorari and let stand the decision of the Court of Appeals affirming the trial court.